**RECEIVED**

**Jan 22 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JEFFERY BRUCE WISE, JR.,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000265

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

JESSICA M. SAXON  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

### **I.**

Did the circuit court err in denying immunity from prosecution where the evidence demonstrated Appellant satisfied the elements of the Protections of Persons and Property Act by a preponderance of the evidence?

### **II.**

Did the circuit court err in denying Appellant's motion for a direct verdict where the State failed to establish the statutory element of "great bodily injury"?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was initially indicted during the June 2021 term of the Lexington County grand jury for one count of assault and battery second degree (A&B 2nd). R. 364-65. During the April 2023 term of the Lexington County grand jury, the state directly indicted Appellant for assault and battery first degree (A&B 1st), subsequently dismissing the original indictment. R. 362-63. The state, represented by Whitney Taylor and Christy Oler, called the case to trial on February 20-23, 2024, before the Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, and a jury. Appellant was represented by Aimee Zmroczek. R. 1.

Prior to trial, Counsel Zmroczek filed a motion for an immunity pursuant to the Protections of Persons and Property Act (the Act), S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410, et seq. R. 354-55. The state filed a motion opposing immunity. R. 356-61. After jury selection, the trial court held an immunity hearing. R. 26, ll. 22-25. The trial court denied immunity, and the case proceeded to trial. R. 109, l. 15 – 110, l. 14.

Appellant was found guilty of assault and battery first degree. R. 328, ll. 11-16. Appellant was sentenced to ten years' incarceration, suspended upon the service of eighty-nine days in county jail and four years' probation. R. 350, ll. 11-21.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENTS

### I.

The circuit court erred in denying immunity from prosecution where the evidence demonstrated Appellant satisfied the elements of the Protections of Persons and Property Act (the Act) by a preponderance of the evidence.

#### **Standard of Review**

“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which [the appellate court] reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review.” State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” State v. Jones, 416 S.C. 283, 289, 786 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2016).

#### **Relevant Facts**

On February 27, 2021, Appellant was attacked and beaten at his home. The attackers were identified as his then-girlfriend’s mother and her boyfriend. R. 28, ll. 11-13. The attack resulted in injuries to Appellant’s face that were still apparent on the night of his arrest two days later. R. 39, ll. 1-3; Court’s Exhibit 3 (on file with this Court). The night of the incident, Appellant had just cooked dinner when he noted blue lights across the road from his mobile home.<sup>1</sup> After eating dinner and smoking a cigarette, he went to investigate the blue lights when he saw his mother, Lea Ann Chandler (Chandler), sitting in her car at the top of the driveway. Chandler flashed her lights at Appellant, so he approached her car. R. 31, ll. 12-18.

---

<sup>1</sup> At the time of the incident, Appellant was living in his mobile home on a piece of land Chandler owned. Appellant had lived on the land since he was about thirteen years old. Appellant did not pay rent, but he was responsible for paying the power bill and the taxes on the mobile home. R. 29, l. 1 – 30, l. 5.

The pair began to converse, and within fifteen seconds, Chandler became hostile. Appellant informed officers that evening that Chandler was upset with him for not siding with her. Defense Exhibit 1 @ 4:47 (on file with this Court).<sup>2</sup> Appellant clarified during the immunity hearing that Chandler was upset about someone calling her a bad name and that as she talked about it, she “went to acting crazy.” R. 32, l. 1 – 33, l. 13. As Chandler went to drive off in her car, Appellant moved his hands from the windowsill.<sup>3</sup> Chandler then put the car in park and attempted to exit the vehicle. Appellant placed his knee against the door to prevent Chandler from exiting the vehicle “because I have known her for 29 years at the time and I know how short her temper is,” and he did not want things to “get completely escalated.” He stepped back when Chandler began rummaging in the side pocket of the car door where she was known to keep a pistol.<sup>4</sup> R. 34, l. 7 – 35, l. 2.

Chandler then got out of the car and swung at Appellant three times, striking him twice in his freshly injured face. Defense Exhibit 1 @ 4:06-4:40; R. 35, ll. 4-13; R. 36, ll. 1-8. Appellant reacted by swinging back one time to defend himself. He then returned to his mobile home. Although he was aware that he struck something due to the injury to his hand, Appellant was unsure that he had struck Chandler until he spoke with police and learned he had knocked her to

---

<sup>2</sup> Prior to the start of the immunity hearing, Counsel Zmroczek moved the redacted copy of Officer Carroway’s body worn camera into the record as Court’s Exhibit 2. R. 25, l. 11 – 26, l. 4. During trial, Counsel Zmroczek entered the same redacted copy of Officer Carroway’s body worn camera into the record as Defense Exhibit 1. R. 142, l. 20 – 143, l. 11. The Clerk’s office was unable to copy Court’s Exhibit 2, therefore Appellant is relying on Defense Exhibit 1 for the purposes of this brief.

<sup>3</sup> In the body camera video of the arresting officer, Appellant states that when he was talking to Chandler that she was being mean, and as she started to leave, he stepped forward and placed his hand on Chandler’s arm while she was in the car. Defense Exhibit 1 @ 3:56.

<sup>4</sup> Appellant alleged in the written motion for immunity that Chandler was known to keep a gun in her car. R. 354-55.

the ground. Defense Ex. 1 @ 4:15 & 6:36-7:26; R. 35, l. 14 - 36, l. 15; R. 39, ll. 9-20. Appellant's right hand was bleeding freely while he was being interviewed by officers. Seven stitches were placed in Appellant's pinky knuckle at the ER. Defense Ex. 1 @ 4:10-4:4:40; R. 41, l. 14 - 42, l. 1.

Officer Jacob Carroway with the Lexington County Sherriff's Department was involved in a vehicle pursuit that ended on Fairview Road in Pelion that same evening. While tending to that incident, he heard a voice from across the street call out for help exclaiming, "my son just assaulted me." He encountered Chandler who identified Appellant as her son, stated "he broke my f\*\*\*ing tooth," and confirmed she wanted to press charges. Chandler had a small amount of blood in her mouth and on her lip, along with a broken tooth. R. 71, l. 14 - 72, l. 12; Defense Exhibit 1 @ 0:00-0:50; Court's Exhibit 5 (on file with this Court).

Carroway walked to Appellant's mobile home and banged on the side, before walking onto the porch to knock on the door. Appellant exited his home and explained to Carroway what had occurred with Chandler, stating that she hit him twice in his already injured face before he swung to defend himself. Appellant demonstrated the motion he made to defend himself from Chandler multiple times and repeatedly asserted that he reacted to Chandler's attack with a single swing so that he could get away from her. Appellant also explained that he had been assaulted a day or two prior to the incident with Chandler which accounted for the injuries to his face. Within approximately two minutes of speaking with Carroway, Appellant was placed under arrest for A&B 2nd. Defense Ex. 1 @ 2:25-5:46; R. 38, l. 21 - 39, l. 11

Carroway continued to speak with Appellant about the incident while walking him back to a patrol vehicle. Appellant again explained how he reacted in self-defense, retelling Carroway that he had been assaulted the previous day by two people and then Chandler had gotten out of

the car “swinging like hell” as he tried to avoid getting hit in his already injured face. Carroway opined that Appellant’s story did not sound like self-defense but merely like Appellant had gotten the last lick in. Defense Ex. 1 @ 11:37-12:17.

After Appellant was arrested, Carroway returned to speak with Chandler who was waiting against her car smoking a cigarette. According to Chandler, Appellant had come to see what the blue lights were about, and the two began a conversation. She confirmed that Appellant had “the hell beaten out of him” by two people. Chandler stated everything was fine until she brought up Appellant’s “crazy girlfriend.” Chandler told Appellant that he and his girlfriend could stay on his corner of the property but not to come onto other areas of her property, which purportedly angered Appellant who said Chandler was on a “power trip.” Chandler claimed Appellant began slamming her car door. She exited the vehicle saying “I ain’t your little b\*\*\*\*. You don’t get to punch on me.” Chandler then claimed Appellant struck her one time, breaking her tooth. She believed Appellant’s hand had been injured on her tooth. Defense Ex. 1 @ 14:14-15:28; 24:32-26:07.

Carroway confirmed that the injuries he observed on both Chandler and Appellant were consistent with Appellant’s story. R. 75, ll. 1-5. Carroway acknowledged Appellant’s repeated statements that he was acting in self-defense but noted that Appellant had also said Chandler was trying to drive away. He concluded that Appellant “was preventing her from driving away” by placing his hand on her arm which negated any claim of self-defense. R. 82, ll. 12-17. However, he ultimately admitted that Appellant’s explanation of the incident was “in the realm of possibility.” R. 95, ll. 2-8. The state did not call Chandler to testify during the immunity hearing.

Counsel Zmroczek argued that Appellant had shown by a preponderance of the evidence that he was entitled to immunity under 16-11-440(C). She reiterated that Carroway had conceded during his testimony Appellant's story was a possibility and that Appellant had, from the beginning, told police he was acting in self-defense. In reviewing the elements of the Act, Counsel Zmroczek argued Appellant had a right to be on the property, that Chandler had started the argument, that Chandler got out of her car and swung at Appellant multiple times escalating the incident, and only then did Appellant react with a single swing, resulting in the injury to Chandler. R. 102, l. 19 – 104, l. 7. She surmised,

The evidence clearly established that Mr. Wise was acting in self-defense. He did not go overboard, he did not continue to strike, he didn't pull out his knife that was in his pocket, he simply swung to get away which is exactly what he told and in [sic] which is what the evidence shows.

R. 104, ll. 7-12.

The state argued that the inconsistencies of Appellant's statement made "his testimony a question of credibility" which made the issue a jury question. The state also argued that Appellant had not shown that he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty. The solicitor's position was that Appellant, by placing his hand on Chandler's arm or windowsill, was continuing the argument and therefore was at fault for bringing on the difficulty. Notably, the state conceded Appellant had a right to be on the property. R. 104, l. 17 – 107, l. 7. Counsel Zmroczek countered that there was no testimony to the contrary that anyone other than Chandler escalated the incident and that if she was trying to withdraw, she would not have gotten out of her vehicle. R. 107, l. 9 – 109, l. 11.

In denying Appellant immunity, the trial court ruled,

I think, I will start by saying, Ms. Taylor, you mentioned the word issue of fact at some point. Now I can't deny immunity simply

based on an issue of fact. It is my ruling, respectfully don't believe the Defendant met the burden of establishing stand your ground. I certainly think there was testimony from the Defendant and the officer, from the evidence I saw on the video to show, to show an argument that the Defendant was, had some fault in bringing on this difficulty. Whether or not the victim here will testify, I do not know at trial.

But based upon what I heard now I don't believe the burden has been met to grant outright immunity. I certainly think there is going to be some issues for the jury to hear, well, should he decide to testify. We don't know that yet. But we will cross that bridge when we get to it. As far as, and ordinarily I would do a stand your ground in advance, in more thorough order but I don't have that luxury today so that is why I am trying to be as to the point as I can. But if I, the element without fault on bringing on the difficulty I think is certainly not, not established by a preponderance of the evidence. So could be fifty/fifty but it is not fifty-one/forty-nine.

R. 109, l. 15 – 110, l. 14

### **Discussion**

The trial court erred in denying Appellant immunity. The court found that, based on the testimony and Carroway's body worn camera, an argument existed that the Defendant had some fault in bringing on the difficulty. Respectfully, this ruling was not supported by the facts in the record. A review of the evidence presented during the immunity hearing shows that Appellant proved it was more likely than not that his use of force was justified under the Act. He showed by a preponderance of the evidence that he was attacked in a place he had a legal right to be, he was not engaged in an unlawful activity, he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty, he was in actual imminent danger of sustaining bodily injury, and he reacted with proportional force. This Court should find that Appellant is entitled to immunity.

In 2006, the South Carolina General Assembly adopted the Protection of Persons and Property Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410, et seq. The General Assembly explained its intent was to "codify the common law Castle Doctrine which recognizes that a person's home is his

castle and to extend the doctrine to include an occupied vehicle and the person's place of business." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(A). The General Assembly found it "proper for law-abiding citizens to protect themselves, their families, and others from intruders and attackers without fear of prosecution or civil action for acting in defense of themselves and others." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(B). The General Assembly recognized "that persons residing in or visiting this State have a right to expect to remain unmolested and safe within their homes, businesses, and vehicles." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(D). Finally, the General Assembly explained "that no person or victim of crime should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal, nor should a person or victim be required to needlessly retreat in the face of intrusion or attack." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(E).

To effectuate this intent, the General Assembly created a statute providing for immunity from prosecution to "[a] person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article or another applicable provision of law." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A). Our Supreme Court explained that "another applicable provision of law" found within the Act "includes the common law of self-defense." State v. Glenn, 429 S.C. 108, 117, 838 S.E.2d 491, 496 (2019). "This means a defendant may seek immunity from prosecution under the Act by 'demonstrating the elements of self-defense to the satisfaction of the trial court by the preponderance of the evidence.'" Glenn, 429 S.C. at 18, 838 S.E.2d at 496 (internal quotation omitted). "Accordingly, a trial court should first consider whether the defendant has proved the elements of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence. If the defendant has failed to meet the elements of reasonable fear or the duty to retreat, the court should then determine whether section 16-11-440(A) or (C) is applicable." Id.

To establish self-defense, four elements must be present: (1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant must have been in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; (3) if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief, or if the defendant was actually in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life; and (4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in the particular instance. State v. Hendrix, 270 S.C. 653, 657-658, 244 S.E.2d 503, 505-506 (1978); see also State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984). “The law requires a person fear imminent *serious* harm or death before using deadly force to defend oneself because the use of defensive force is justified only to the extent such force is proportional to the threat the person faces.” State v. Stoots, 445 S.C. 127, 134, 912 S.E.2d 248, 252 (2025). Importantly, “[w]here the provoking attack is less serious, a person may still be justified in responding, but only with proportional force. Thus, there is no requirement the defendant anticipate serious bodily injury or death before responding with non-deadly force in self-defense.” Id.

An individual has the right to act on appearances. State v. Starnes, 340 S.C. 312, 531 S.E.2d 907 (2000); see also State v. Jackson, 277 S.C. 271, 87 S.E.2d 681 (1955). Additionally, “words accompanied by hostile acts, may, depending on the circumstances, establish a plea of self-defense.” State v. Harvey, 220 S.C. 506, 68 S.E.2d 409 (1951). However, an individual who provokes or initiates an assault may not assert self-defense. State v. Bryant, 336 S.C. 340, 345, 520 S.E.2d 319,

322 (1999). “Any act of the accused in violation of law and reasonably calculated to produce the occasion amounts to bringing on the difficulty and bars his right to assert self-defense as a justification or excuse for a [crime].” Id.

The Act provides:

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C). Thus, “in cases where the defendant has not proved the duty to retreat element by a preponderance of the evidence, the court should then consider whether section 16-11-440(C) is applicable because the provision was enacted to extend the protections of the Castle Doctrine to other places where he has a right to be.” Id. at 118-119, 838 S.E.2d at 496. “Where this section is applicable, it replaces the duty to retreat element required to establish self-defense.” Id. at 119, 838 S.E.2d at 497. “In determining whether a defendant satisfies section 16-11-440(C), the circuit court must analyze whether, at the time of the incident, he was engaged in an unlawful activity and was attacked in another place where he had a right to be.” Id. On appeal from the denial of immunity, an appellate court must limit its review to the evidence presented during the immunity hearing. See State v. Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. 442, 452–53, 827 S.E.2d 564, 569 (2019) (While the trial court's pretrial immunity ruling and the jury's verdict on a claim of self-defense may apply the same statutory justification standard, the court's ruling must be based solely on the evidence presented at a pretrial hearing, while the jury's verdict must be based solely on the evidence presented at trial, which may be considerably

different. Consequently, we have limited our review to the evidence presented at the immunity hearing.)

There was no contention that Appellant was not in a place that he had a right to be at the time of the incident. The state conceded as much during argument to the trial court. R. 106, ll. 19-22. Appellant had lived on the property owned by Chandler since he was approximately thirteen years old, and he had free use of the property prior to the incident. There was also no contention that Appellant was engaged in an unlawful activity at the time of the incident. Therefore, the only question before the trial court, and subsequently this Court, was whether Appellant met the elements of self-defense, save the duty to retreat, by a preponderance of the evidence.

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