THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jan 22 2026

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000265

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JEFFERY BRUCE WISE, JR.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

BRIAN H. GIBBS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104137

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Phone: 803-734-3727

S.R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main St., Ste. 309
Lexington, South Carolina 29072

Attorneys for Respondent

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Appellant's Issue Statements

- I. Did the circuit court err in denying immunity from prosecution where the evidence demonstrated Appellant satisfied the elements of the Protections of Persons and Property Act by a preponderance of the evidence?
- II. Did the circuit court err in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict where the State failed to establish the statutory element of "great bodily injury?"

Respondent's Counterstatements

- I. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by denying Appellant immunity for first-degree assault and battery after Appellant could not show by a preponderance of the evidence that he was entirely without fault in bringing on the difficulty.
- II. Whether the trial court erred by declining to direct a verdict where, in the light most favorable to the State, evidence existed that reasonably tended to prove Appellant's guilt.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In June 2021, a Lexington County grand jury indicted Appellant for second-degree assault and battery. (R. 364-365). In April 2023, the grand jury subsequently indicted Appellant for first-degree assault and battery. (R. 362-363). The State nolle prossed the indictment for second-degree assault and battery before trial. (R. 357).

Prior to trial, Appellant moved for immunity. (R. 354). Following the filing of memoranda and before trial began, the trial court held a pretrial immunity hearing. (R. 26-27).

Pretrial Immunity Hearing

Appellant testified at the pretrial immunity hearing. He stated that he recalled the incident, which occurred in the early morning hours of March 1, 2021. (R. 28). Previously, on February 27, 2021, Appellant was "attacked" by his ex-girlfriend's mother and his ex-girlfriend's mother's boyfriend. (R. 28). After that attack, he received help from his mother, Victim. (R. 28). Victim owned the property Appellant lived on in a mobile home. (R. 29). Appellant did not pay rent but did pay the bills for his mobile home. (R. 29). Victim's mobile home was approximately 250 yards away from his. (R. 30).

On the night of the incident, Appellant saw blue lights across the road and walked down a trail near his home to see why law enforcement was in the area. (R. 31). Victim was sitting in her car nearby and flashed her lights at him, so he approached her. (R. 31). Appellant conversed with his mother, which he stated started out fine before Victim became hostile toward him. (R. 32). According to Appellant, Victim told him about a third party calling her a name, which lead Victim to become mad and began "acting crazy." (R. 33). Appellant stated the conversation escalated within fifteen seconds. (R. 33). He claimed he did not raise his voice or use foul language toward his mother, despite Victim raising her voice and using foul language toward him. (R. 33).

Appellant testified that as a result of the conversation becoming heated, Victim went to "take off" in her car, and he moved his hands off of the windowsill. (R. 34). He speculated that Victim may have thought he was reaching into the car to "touch her in some way or something." (R. 34). Appellant denied telling law enforcement on the night of the incident that he put his hand on his mother's arm while she was still in the car, insisting that he only touched the car door. (R. 49). According to Appellant, Victim locked up the car's breaks, threw the car in park, and tried to get out of the vehicle. (R. 34). Appellant confirmed he put his knee against the car door to keep Victim from getting out of the car because he knew her to have a short temper and did not want to escalate the situation any further. (R. 34). He stated he moved his knee because Victim began shuffling through a side pocket in the car where he believed Victim kept a pistol. (R. 34-35). Appellant confirmed that he never mentioned to law enforcement that he knew his mother to carry a gun in her car. (R. 58). After moving his knee, Victim exited the vehicle, swung at him three times, hitting him twice. (R. 35). Appellant confirmed Victim hit him in the face, where he had injuries from the incident the day before. (R. 35). After his mother hit him, Appellant did "[t]he only thing that [he] felt that [he] was able to do at that time," which was to defend himself. (R. 35). Appellant claimed that he was trying to get away when he swung at Victim. (R. 35). He further claimed he only swung at her once. (R. 35). Appellant hit Victim, who fell to the ground. (R. 36). He then returned to his mobile home. (R. 36).

Appellant confirmed that he normally carried a pocketknife with him and that he had his pocketknife on him during the incident despite not using it. (R. 36). When he got to his front porch, he heard yells for help. (R. 37). He went inside. (R. 37). Law enforcement knocked on his door shortly thereafter. (R. 37). Appellant testified he complied with law enforcement and did what they asked of him. (R. 37). He informed law enforcement that he acted in self-defense,

claiming that his mother was short-tempered and "pretty aggressive." (R. 38). Appellant told law enforcement that he was unaware of what his fist struck when he swung at his mother. (R. 39). Law enforcement arrested Appellant, who was taken to the hospital and received seven stitches on one of his knuckles. (R. 41-42). Appellant confirmed his right hand was bleeding "profusely" after he hit his mother. (R. 51).

Jacob Caraway, a deputy with the Lexington County Sheriff's Department, testified that he responded to an unrelated incident on March 1, 2021. (R. 70). While he was working on that unrelated incident, he heard Victim yell out from the darkness across the street. (R. 71-72). He heard Victim yell that she had been assaulted by her son, Appellant. (R. 72). Victim appeared "very, very distraught, very angry, [and] very emotional." (R. 72). Caraway observed fresh blood coming from Victim's mouth. (R. 72). Victim identified her son by name and spoke to Caraway for about a minute. (R. 72). She directed Caraway as to where he could find Appellant. (R. 72). Caraway followed her directions and found Appellant's trailer. (R. 72-73). When he first spoke to Appellant, he noted that Appellant appeared to be out of breath. (R. 73). Caraway also noticed Appellant's eye injury from a prior incident as well as a fresh, bleeding laceration on Appellant's right hand. (R. 73-74). However, Caraway did not observe any fresh injuries to Appellant's face. (R. 74).

Appellant told Caraway his version of events, including that Appellant was unsure of what he hit when he swung at his mother, stating that it could have been a fence post, the car, or his mother. (R. 74). Caraway confirmed that both Appellant's injuries and Victim's injuries were consistent with Appellant's story. (R. 75). After Appellant stated that he was unsure of what he hit, Caraway placed him under arrest, believing he had probable cause to do so. (R. 75).

Caraway testified that Victim's mouth injuries and Appellant's hand injuries were consistent with a closed fist punch to the face. (R. 78). Caraway stated that at no point did either Appellant or Victim indicate that Appellant was boxed in and unable to get away from Victim. (R. 83). According to Caraway, the hole in Appellant's story was that Victim's mouth was bloodied up and Appellant was not conclusive in what he told law enforcement about the event. (R. 91). Caraway testified that had Appellant been blocking a motion by Victim, Appellant's blocking should not have been enough to break a tooth. (R. 91). Further, he confirmed that Victim's injuries were not consistent with someone throwing up their arms to create distance. (R. 101).

During Caraway's testimony, Court's Exhibit 2¹ was shown, which was Caraway's body camera footage from the night of the incident. (R. 26, 86). When Caraway initially approaches Victim, she tells him that Appellant punched her in the mouth. (Def. Ex. 1 at 00:00 to 01:00). As Caraway walks away from Victim in search of Appellant, the camera shows a car several lengths past two fence posts. (Def. Ex. 1 at 00:30 to 01:30). Shortly thereafter, Caraway discusses the incident with Appellant, who tells him that Victim became upset while still in her car, so he put his hand on her arm. (Def. Ex. 1 at 03:30 to 05:00). Appellant could not specify what he hit when he swung, stating that it was either his mother, a fence post, or the car door. (Def. Ex. 1 at 03:30 to 05:00). After Caraway arrested Appellant, Caraway went back to Victim to get a more complete version of events from her. (Def. Ex. 1 at 14:00 to 22:00). During this conversation, Victim stated that she and Appellant were discussing his girlfriend, whom Victim did not appear to like, when Appellant became agitated. (Def. Ex. 1 at 14:30 to 16:00). Appellant began slamming her car door, so Victim got out of the car. (Def. Ex. 1 at 14:30 to 16:00). Appellant punched Victim in the

¹ Court's Exhibit 2 was subsequently introduced as Defendant's Exhibit 1 at trial. (R. 143).

mouth. (Def. Ex. 1 at 14:30 to 16:00). Victim stated she saw his punch coming. (Def. Ex. 1 at 14:30 to 16:00).

The trial court then heard arguments regarding immunity. Appellant argued that he met force with force and established that he demonstrated to law enforcement how he moved to get away from Victim after being struck twice by her. (R. 102). He asserted that it was possible he could have acted in a way that could have resulted in Victim's injuries. (R. 103). He contended that he had a right to be on the property and no evidence presented had asserted otherwise. (R. 103). Appellant emphasized his testimony that Victim became angry and lashed out at him, hitting him twice, and that he hit his mother back to push away from her. (R. 103). Appellant argued that he was restrained in his reaction to Victim's actions. (R. 104).

The State focused on Appellant's inconsistencies, which it argued made this a question for the jury. (R. 105). The State asserted that Appellant could not get past the first element of self-defense—being without fault in bringing on the difficulty. (R. 105). The State pointed to Appellant's own testimony that he approached Victim in her driveway, put his hand on her arm or windowsill, confirmed Victim's car was in gear, and confirmed Victim was attempting to move forward during their conversation. (R. 105). This, the State asserted, made it clear that Appellant was trying to continue the argument with his mother while she was attempting to leave. (R. 105). The State emphasized that Appellant's testimony on the stand had inconsistencies from his initial discussion with law enforcement directly following the incident, which made this an issue of weight and credibility. (R. 106-107). The State argued that because Appellant could not show he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty by a preponderance of the evidence, he was not entitled to immunity. (R. 107).

Appellant replied that no testimony presented supported the State's argument that he started the confrontation. (R. 107). He argued *Jackson* did not apply because that case is only applicable when a defendant provoked or initiated an assault. (R. 107). Appellant claimed the testimony supported only that Victim started the fight. (R. 107). The trial court, reading from *State v. Oates*, stated that Appellant's testimony was not "just accept[ed] as established" merely because he testified. (R. 108). Appellant then recognized that his testimony by itself did not establish that he was without fault and argued that there was no testimony that he was at fault. (R. 108). The State noted that Appellant, by his own admission, would not let Victim withdraw from this confrontation despite Victim's wish to do so. (R. 109).

The trial court determined Appellant failed to meet his burden of proving self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence. (R. 109). The trial court found that the testimony of Appellant and Caraway, along with Caraway's body camera footage that was supplied to the court, supported an "argument" that Appellant had some fault in bringing on the difficulty. (R. 109). The trial court did not address any element of self-defense except for the first element. (R. 109-110). On February 20 and 22-23, 2024, Appellant proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV. (R. 1, 275).

Trial

At trial, Caraway again testified that he responded to an unrelated incident on March 1, 2021. (R. 124-125). As the unrelated incident concluded, he heard a cry for help from across the street. (R. 126). After crossing the street, he made contact with Victim, who appeared to be emotionally distraught and had "fresh" blood coming from her mouth. (R. 127). As Caraway approached Victim, her car was just up the driveway from two fence posts. (R. 129). He testified that Victim had a "broken, serrated" tooth and that Victim told him that her son, Appellant, had

punched her in the face. (R. 132). Victim directed him in the direction he was likely to find Appellant. (R. 132). When he arrived at Appellant's mobile home, he spoke with Appellant, who appeared to be slightly out of breath. (R. 133). Caraway observed a fresh, bleeding injury to Appellant's right hand. (R. 133). Appellant told Caraway that he was unsure of what he hit that caused his hand injury. (R. 133). Caraway determined that the information Appellant provided was inconsistent with the injuries to Appellant's hand as well as those to Victim's face. (R. 134). He placed Appellant in custody and returned to talk to Victim. (R. 134-135). Caraway testified that Appellant and Victim's injuries were not consistent with Appellant's version of events or his demonstration of those events. (R. 138-139). Further, Victim did not have any injuries consistent with her striking Appellant. (R. 141). Defendant's Exhibit 1, which was Caraway's body camera footage in relevant portion, was played for the jury. (R. 142-143). Caraway confirmed he did not take any pictures of Victim's face on the night of the incident. (R. 149-150). Caraway also confirmed that Appellant told law enforcement that he had a knife and paint scraper on his person on the night of the incident. (R. 157). Caraway stated Victim's injury consisted of at least one broken and serrated tooth, which was at a 45-degree angle in her mouth. (R. 166). He believed that alone was moderate bodily injury because it would require surgery to correct. (R. 166).

Victim testified that Appellant is her son and that both she and Appellant lived on her property at the time of the incident. (R. 175). On the night of the incident, she noticed some blue lights down by the road and went to see what was happening. (R. 176). After seeing that law enforcement was engaged in the unrelated incident across the street, she turned her car around and drove back up her driveway, which is when she saw Appellant walking toward her. (R. 176). Victim rolled down her window, and Appellant asked what was going on with law enforcement. (R. 177). She told Appellant what she had seen. (R. 177). Victim confirmed her car was in gear

during this conversation. (R. 178). She testified that both her tone and demeanor, as well as those of Appellant, were "fine" during this conversation. (R. 178). She stated that Appellant's demeanor changed due to a disagreement between the two about allowing Appellant's girlfriend to move back onto the property. (R. 179). Victim stated that Appellant became progressively more angry during this part of the conversation. (R. 179). She testified that at this point of the conversation, she wanted to end the conversation, go home, and go to bed. (R. 179). However, despite her attempts to drive toward her home, Appellant would not let her, so she was "just easing along" because she did not want to run him over. (R. 179). The only thing preventing Victim from going up her driveway was Appellant, who was hanging on her door. (R. 197).

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